IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,907

LEO ALEXANDER JONES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

SUMMARY INITIAL BRIEF ON APPELLANT'S APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF HIS MOTION FOR FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850 RELIEF AND IN SUPPORT OF APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR STAY OF EXECUTION

> LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

THOMAS H. DUNN Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 871753

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Honorable Court on the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.850 relief and the underlying applications for a stay of execution and an evidentiary hearing. On Tuesday, November 12, 1991, this Court issued a temporary of Mr. Jones' execution, effective until noon, Friday, November 15, 1991. The Court scheduled oral argument for 10:00 a.m., Thursday, November 14, 1991, and requested counsel to provide briefs by noon, Wednesday, November 13, 1991. Given the time constraints involved in this action, Mr. Jones' counsel cannot provide this Court with a professionally proper brief. This brief therefore presents a summary of the reasons why the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.850 relief, a stay of execution and an evidentiary hearing was improper. Mr. Jones requests and urges that this Court enter a stay of execution, and grant an evidentiary hearing.

Citations in this brief designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, as follows: "R. ___ " --Record on Direct Appeal to this Court; "PC-R. ___ " -- Record on Appeal from denial of the 1986 Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence; "H. ___ " -- Transcript of hearing conducted in the circuit court on November 10, 1991; "App. ___ " -- Appendix to Rule 3.850 motion. All other citations will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained.

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Jones is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. The circuit court refused to hear the evidence, summarily denying Mr. Jones' Rule 3.850 motion without permitting an evidentiary hearing. The evidence is summarized in this Introduction, and will be related to Mr. Jones' claims for relief in the discussion of the individual issues presented below.

Leo Jones is innocent of the offense for which he awaits execution. The murder was committed by another man, Mr. Glen Schofield who, in the years since Mr. Jones' conviction and death sentence, has bragged to numerous people that he shot and killed Officer Szafranski and that Leo Jones is on death row for something he did not do. Mr. Schofield's confessions are consistent with evidence uncovered at the time of trial, and with evidence which has only since been uncovered.

This evidence when viewed cumulatively presents a compelling case of innocence. By the State's own admission, the evidence if presented to a jury would "create a debatable question" (H. 59). Despite this admission, the State argues, and convinced the circuit court to rule, that Mr. Jones should be executed without a full and fair opportunity to investigate, develop and evaluate this evidence at a full and fair evidentiary hearing.

Mr. Jones was convicted and sentenced to death for the May 23, 1981, murder of Jacksonville police officer Thomas Szafranski. The murder occurred in Jacksonville at the

intersection of 6th and Davis Streets at about 1:00 a.m. Officer Szafranski was driving the third car of a trio of police cars and was shot as he was about to turn from 6th Street onto Davis Street going north, following the other two police cars which had already turned north onto Davis. After he was shot, Officer Szafranski's car came to a stop partially in the 6th and Davis intersection (See App. 20).

Immediately after the shooting, numerous police cars converged on the scene. No one had witnessed the actual shooting. Some witnesses indicated the shots had come from the area of a vacant lot which was on the east side of Davis, directly in front of 6th Street (App. 19); others said the shots had come from a downstairs apartment of an apartment building on the east side of Davis, south of the vacant lot (App. 19).

Attention focused on the apartment building, which police began searching. In an upstairs apartment, police found Mr. Jones and Mr. Bobby Hammond, who were taken into custody and transported to the police department. After hours of interrogation, beatings, and coercion, Mr. Hammond told police that he had seen Mr. Jones leave the apartment with a gun, heard a shot, and then seen Mr. Jones return to the apartment with a gun. Mr. Hammond also told police that a man named Glen Schofield had been in the apartment that night (App. 13). Mr. Hammond was released immediately after giving these statements.

Also after hours of interrogation, beatings, and coercion, Mr. Jones signed a statement written by Detective Eason,

admitting involvement in the shooting. Mr. Jones was charged with murder, and ultimately tried, convicted, and sentenced to death.

The only evidence against Mr. Jones at trial was his presence in the Davis Street apartment, the presence of guns in his apartment, Bobby Hammond's coerced statement, which he retracted several times, and Mr. Jones' supposed statement, which he also retracted. The State's theory at trial was that Mr. Jones had come down from his apartment to a vacant apartment on the ground floor, fired the shots from a window of the vacant apartment, and then immediately run back upstairs to his apartment. Tests on the bullet recovered from the scene proved inconclusive in terms of linking the bullet to any of the rifles seized from Mr. Jones' apartment (R. 1048). Mr. Jones testified that the guns in the apartment belonged to Glen Schofield (R. 1214). Other evidence indicated that Mr. Jones had not committed the offense. For example, police performed a neutron activation test on Mr. Jones' hands, checking for the presence of gunpowder residue which would indicate he had recently fired a qun. The test was negative (R. 1074-75). A witness, Early Gaines, who lived in a nearby apartment told police:

> Sometime after midnight tonight I was laying in my bed when I heard two gunshots just outside my window. Right after that I heard someone shuffling around in that same area like someone was running or moving fast. The next thing I knew a lot of police cars were outside.

(App. 14). Notes from police files indicate that Mr. Gaines "heard someone running down alley right after shooting" (App. 14).

Police considered Mr. Schofield to be a suspect in Officer Szafranski's murder early on in their investigation. Police notes indicate that Mr. Schofield was listed as a suspect in the case (App. 15). Police reports reflect that during interrogation approximately nine hours after the offense, Bobby Hammond informed Detective Eason that Glen Schofield had been in Mr. Jones' apartment on the evening of the offense (App. 13). The next day, May 24, Detective Eason began attempting to locate Mr. Schofield (Apps. 12, 13). He summarized these activities in this report as follows:

> The writer ran a N.C.I.C. Check on the <u>subject</u> Glen Schofield on 5-25-81 and found that he was wanted for Violation of Probation. The writer obtain photographs of the <u>suspect</u> and had a Police Bulletin with the description of the <u>suspect</u> and information in regards to this writer wanting to talk with the <u>suspect</u> concerning the shooting of Officer Szafranski distributed throughout the Sheriff's Office and through the State of Florida.

(App. 13) (emphasis added). All of this was done by Detective Eason after he allegedly obtained a confession from Mr. Jones -a confession which did not implicate Mr. Schofield. Why?

On June 2, Detective Eason learned that Mr. Schofield was being held in the St. Johns County Jail and went to interview him (App. 13). Mr. Schofield admitted he had been at Mr. Jones'

apartment the night of the offense, but denied involvement in the shooting (App. 13).

On June 3, Detective Eason, accompanied by Detective Moneyhun, interviewed Mr. Schofield again (App. 13). Mr. Schofield provided the same information regarding the night of the shooting, but also told the detectives that his girlfriend's name was Patricia Ferrell and provided three phone numbers where Ms. Ferrell might be reached "in case [the detectives] needed her in the investigation" (App. 13). After Detective Eason informed Assistant State Attorney Ralph Green about the interviews with Mr. Schofield, Mr. Green asked that a sworn statement be taken from Mr. Schofield (App. 13). When asked to give a sworn statement concerning his prior statements about the murder, Mr. Schofield, on advice of counsel, refused to give a sworn statement.

Mr. Schofield was important enough to the State to be subpoenaed to appear before the grand jury. A practipe for the subpoena, bearing Mr. Jones' case number, and the subpoena are in the State's files (App. 16). Mr. Schofield's significance is also reflected by the fact that he was listed as a witness by both the State and the defense (Apps. 17, 18).

Other significant evidence was not heard at Mr. Jones' trial. Bobby Hammonds testified in a pretrial deposition and at the motion to suppress hearing that he and Mr. Jones had been severely beaten after their arrest and that he had made statements implicating Mr. Jones only to get the police to stop

beating him (<u>See</u> R. 354-72). Mr. Hammonds' brother confirms that when he saw Mr. Hammonds the day of the arrest, Mr. Hammonds had been badly beaten (App. 11). Mr. Jones' mother and an assistant public defender who saw Mr. Jones the day after his arrest confirm that Mr. Jones also had been badly beaten (Apps. 9, 10). This evidence casts significant doubt on Mr. Hammonds' statements implicating Mr. Jones and on Mr. Jones' "confession."

Mr. Jones' "confession" is also suspect standing alone. The two-sentence statement was written by Detective Eason, not Mr. Jones. The statement is extremely brief, providing only the barest information. It contains no details such as which gun was used or why the officer was shot. Surely, a detective questioning a suspect would want to know these things, and a man truly "confessing" would provide much more than the barest inculpatory information. Indeed, after the statement was taken, the detectives reenacted the way the shooting was supposed to have occurred (App. 13) -- a procedure which could only indicate that the detectives were unsure of the "confession's" reliability.

The detectives were also concerned about another suspect in the shooting. After Bobby Hammonds told police that Glen Schofield was in the apartment earlier that night, police located and interviewed Schofield, who denied involvement in the shooting and gave the name of his girlfriend, Patricia Ferrell, as an alibi (App. 13). The police never interviewed Ms. Ferrell. Ms. Ferrell (now Owens) now states that she was not with Mr.

Schofield during the time in question, but that later Schofield did ask her to provide an alibi for him (App. 1). Ms. Owens also states that Mr. Schofield often complained about the police harassing him and that when she asked him if he had killed Officer Szafranski, he asked her if she thought he would "say something that will put me in prison for the rest of my life" (App. 1).

Witnesses place Mr. Schofield at the scene of Officer Szafranski's murder, carrying a rifle. Linda Atwater was at Mr. Jones' apartment shortly before the shooting. As she left the apartment building, Mr. Schofield passed her running into the building, carrying a rifle and saying, "Them crackers are after me" (App. 2). After Ms. Atwater drove a short distance down the street, she saw the flashing lights of police cars behind her at the intersection near Mr. Jones' apartment building (App. 2). Daniel Cole and Denise Reed were walking down a street near Mr. Jones' apartment building when they heard a shot. Within minutes, they saw Glen Schofield running from the area behind Mr. Jones' apartment building holding a rifle in his hands (Apps. 4, 5).

Glen Schofield has confessed numerous times to numerous people that he killed Officer Szafranski. After being released from prison in 1989, Mr. Schofield bragged about shooting the officer to Patricia Owens (App. 1). In prison in the mid-1980's, Mr. Schofield had confessed to Paul Marr, Frank Pittro, Franklin Prince, and others (Apps. 6, 7, 23). In 1990, apparently while

in jail, he confessed to Michael Richardson (App. 24). Each of these confessions contained details of the offense consistent with the evidence at trial and the information provided by other witnesses. The confessions were made to many different people, at different times and places. All of this -- plus the sheer number of the confessions -- speaks to the probative nature of the confessions.

Despite evidence that both Mr. Hammonds and Mr. Jones received beatings at the hands of the police, and despite reports from both that their statements were given to police upon coercion on the morning after their arrest because of the beatings, Mr. Hammonds ultimately testified at trial that in fact he was telling the truth and that his original statements implicating Mr. Jones were not the result of any coercion. We now know, although defense counsel, the jury, and this Court were not allowed to know, that this was simply not the truth. Since the circuit court hearing, counsel for Mr. Jones has learned:

> 1. I am Donorena Harris, a State of Florida investigator employed by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative. I am the investigator assigned to the Leo Jones case.

2. On November 11, 1991, at 11:30 p.m. EST, I interviewed Bobby Hammonds, who currently resides in California. Earlier in the evening, Valerie Hammonds spoke to Bobby Hammonds who provided to her his location and telephone number. Ms. Hammonds is the wife of Arty Hammonds, Bobby's brother and knows Bobby personally. When I called Mr. Hammondss, he told me about his involvement in the Leo Jones case.

3. Mr. Hammonds said that he was asleep in Leo Jones' apartment when he was awakened by several Jacksonville police officers. The police officers beat him about his head and face with the butts of their guns and their flashlights. Mr. Hammonds heard the officers beating Leo Jones.

4. Mr. Hammonds said that after he and Leo Jones were taken to the Jacksonville Police Memorial Building, he was questioned about the murder of a Jacksonville police officer. Mr. Hammonds stated the police officers beat him during the interrogation and told him what his statement should say. Mr. Hammonds said he refused at first. Then, one of the police officers unloaded all of the bullets in his handgun, except one. The officer talked to Hammonds and pulled his trigger at the same time, according to Hammonds. The officer threatened to hurt Hammonds if he refused to provide the information as the police told it to him.

5. Although Hammonds said he knew nothing about the shooting of a Jacksonville police officer, Hammonds said he signed a statement incriminating Leo Jones because he feared for his life. Hammonds said the information in the statement was not true, specifically mentioning that he did not see Mr. Jones with a rifle on that evening.

6. Mr. Hammonds was told that he would be called to testify at Leo Jones' trial. Mr. Hammonds said that he was again beaten by a Jacksonville police officer in Jacksonville prior to the trial.

7. Mr. Hammonds was reluctant to discuss this matter by telephone because he fears the Jacksonville police community. He stated his preference for a face to face interview, at which time, he would provide more information.

8. This interview culminates a three-week search for Mr. Hammonds who has moved frequently, lived in several states over the past ten years and left no forwarding addresses. Mr. Hammonds whereabouts proved so elusive that CCR contracted with Global Search Service to assist me in locating Mr. Hammonds. Global was unsuccessful and indicated that Mr. Hammonds was a difficult case.

(Supplemental Emergency Application for Stay of Execution, Attachment 1).¹

Despite the cumulative effect of this compelling evidence of Mr. Jones' innocence -- and Mr. Schofield's guilt -- the circuit court refused to consider much of the evidence because of procedural bars and rejected some of it on the merits because it "would not conclusively prove that a jury would not have convicted the Defendant." In short, the State and the circuit court below would have Mr. Jones executed because he did not produce this evidence sooner -- evidence which the State conceded "would create a debtatable question" among jurors. Even the circuit court judge speculated "off the record" that this evidence would cause this Court to have to look at the cumulative weight of all this evidence and the numerous confessions to different people at different times. Both the State and the circuit court hide behind procedural niceties in order to avoid dealing with the cumulative effect of this compelling evidence.

Clearly, this evidence indicating that Mr. Schofield committed the offense would have made all the difference to Mr.

¹This new evidence clearly warrants a new Rule 3.850 claim premised upon <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and <u>Giglio</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). <u>See Lightbourne v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989), there this Court granted a stay of execution to a virtually identically situated defendant. However, due to the exigencies of the circumstances, Mr. Jones is dependent upon this Court to grant him the time necessary to gain access to the courts and present this claim.

Jones' defense. Not only would such evidence have created reasonable doubt on its own, but also such evidence would have cast considerable doubt on the key components of the State's case. This evidence cannot be ignored. This evidence presents a colorable showing of factual innocence which demands that a stay of execution be entered and the case be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

Mr. Jones is entitled to a full, fair, and adequate opportunity to vindicate his constitutional rights pursuant to the post-conviction process established under Rule 3.850. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g., Holland v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987). Florida law, <u>Holland</u>, <u>supra</u>; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, as well as the federal constitution guarantee Mr. Jones that opportunity.²

Florida provides a mechanism pursuant to which Mr. Jones may seek to vindicate his rights, <u>see</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The Legislature has provided counsel, <u>see</u> Fla. Stat. sec. 27.701, <u>et</u>. <u>seq</u>. (1985), and thus promised Mr. Jones the effective assistance

²See Michael v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 93 (1955)(Due Process Clause guarantees defendant "a reasonable opportunity to have the issue as to the claimed right heard and determined by the state court."), guoting Parker v. Illinois, 333 U.S. 571, 574 (1948); Case v. Nebraska, 381 U.S. 336, 337 (1965) (Clark, J., concurring) (federal constitution guarantees defendant "adequate corrective [state-court] process for the hearing and determination of [his] claims of violation of federal constitutional guarantees); see also id. at 340-47 and nn.5-6 (Brennan, J., concurring) (same). Florida extended the right to seek Rule 3.850 relief; it must "assure the indigent defendant an adequate opportunity to present his claims fairly." Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 616 (1974). Having extended the right to seek redress under Rule 3.850, the State must provide a forum, and that forum's consideration of Mr. Jones' claim must comport with due process. Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977); Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387 (1985).

of an advocate in that process. Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988). However, as discussed below, the process will fail in Mr. Jones' case, unless this Court exercises its lawful authority to stay this execution, and to permit him to properly present his claims. Mr. Jones sets forth herein facts which demonstrate "he might be entitled to relief under Rule 3.850," State ex. rel. Russell v. Schaffer, 467 So.2 d 698, 699 (Fla. 1985); therefore a stay of execution is proper to permit consideration of the claims for relief. Mr. Jones can and will show the wrongfulness of his convictions and death sentence if given an adequate opportunity. This Court has the authority, and constitutional duty, to provide it. State v. Crews, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985). Due process, equal protection, the sixth amendment, and the eighth amendment's "need for reliability in the determination that death is the appropriate punishment," Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304 (1976), countenance no less. This Court should not allow a human being to be put to his death before his substantial claims of innocence have fully, fairly, and properly been heard, especially when the claims asserted are as substantial as those herein presented.

The right to an "adequate opportunity" to be heard and "adequate corrective process" is not lost simply because this pleading is not Mr. Jones' first application for postconviction relief, and neither can it be ignored that a stay of execution is warranted on the basis of the nonfrivolous nature of Mr. Jones' claims. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Harich v. State</u>, No. 73,930 (Fla.

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