#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NOV. 13 1991

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By Chief Deputy Chief

LEO JONES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,907

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Jones filed an untimely and successive motion for postconviction relief which, in three counts, raised two basic issues.

First, Jones alleged the ineffective assistance of trial counsel. This issue was essentially the same as the issue raised in Jones' first Rule 3.850 proceeding, although some additional "uncontacted" witnesses are mentioned. This claim is both time and procedurally barred.

Second, Jones alleged "factual innocence" based upon evidence he had or could have had either during his last 3.850 proceeding or at least prior to January 1, 1987 (the cutoff date for Rule 3.850 petitions). Jones tries to circumvent the procedural bars by alleging his evidence is "newly discovered." After careful review, it was determined that his evidence did not qualify as "newly discovered."

Jones also alleged "Brady" error by the state in (1) "failing" to disclose the name of an inmate who allegedly wrote to the Governor's Office (Davis) and (2) belatedly revealing the name of a second inmate who called the state, but not the prosecutor in this case, last year. Both "witnesses" were reviewed under the "newly discovered evidence" test and the court found that there was no Brady violation.

#### ARGUMENT: CLAIM I

WHETHER COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL PROCEEDING IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Jones asserts that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present evidence that Glen Schofield was guilty of the murder of Officer Szafranski as evidenced by the fact that Schofield in the years since Jones' conviction and death sentence "bragged to numerous people that he murdered Officer Szafranski and that Leo Jones is on death row for something he did not do."

On November 10, 1991, Judge A.C. Soud, Jr., Circuit Judge, entertained Jones' successive Rule 3.850 motion. Following oral argument on said claim, the Court concluded in his order dated November 10, 1991, as follows:

C. Count I of the Petition (Ineffective Assistance of Counsel) alleges the names and statements of witnesses which this Court finds were known, or could have reasonably become known, by the Defendant, his attorney at trial, and/or his attorney at the collateral level at the time of his first Petition for relief filed and heard in the latter part of 1986, particularly since the Defendant, Jones, used family members to investigative leads. pursue Under allegations of Count I, the Petition is procedurally barred by the two-year limitation proscribed in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

Jones' claim that counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly procedurally barred and constitutes an abuse of process. The record reflects that Jones raised, investigated and litigated trial counsel's alleged failure to point accusatory finger at Glen Schofield as the real murderer in his Jones v. State, 528 So.2d 1171 first Rule 3.850 petition. The instant claim is identical to the earlier claim (Fla.1988). wherein Jones asserted that witnesses such as Marion Manning and others, supported by the "newly discovered" Paul Marr, (who would say that Schofield had bragged about killing a Jacksonville police officer) could prove Jones' innocence. In order to enhance this previously raised claim, Jones has additional affidavits from individuals who allegedly saw Glen Schofield or Leo Jones that night.

It is well established that a Defendant is procedurally barred from filing a successive claim of "ineffective assistance of counsel" which alleges facts or errors known by a petitioner or reasonably discoverable by him during his prior proceeding. In <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 609, 612 (Fla.1983), this court observed that a Rule 3.850 may be summarily denied when it is based on grounds that have been raised in a prior post-conviction motion and decided adversely to the moveant on the merits. In <u>Sullivan</u> the court noted:

Sullivan's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was clearly raised in his previous

motion and was decided against him on the merits. The fact that he may raise somewhat different facts to support his legal claim does not compel a different result. Third District reached the same conclusion in Slattery v. State, 433 So.2d 615 (Fla. 3d DCA Therein Slattery sought to set aside 1983). conviction and sentence on the basis of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and that his guilty plea was coerced. district court determined that allegations had been raised in a prior motion and had been properly denied by the trial district court. The court correctly concluded: his second "In motion appellant has raised different facts support his allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel which are not permitted under existing Fla.R.Crim.P. Therefore the order denying the appellant's motion is appropriate . . . . " 433 So.2d at 616.

Sullivan v. State, 441 So.2d at 612-613.

See also In Re Shriner, 735 F.2d 1236 (11th Cir.1989); Francis v.
State, 581 So.2d 583 (Fla.1991); Squires v. State, 565 So.2d 318
(Fla.1990) and Clark v. State, 569 So.2d 1263 (Fla.1990).

Jones has offered no cogent argument in support of reopening his procedurally barred claim. In fact, at the evidentiary hearing held November 10, 1991, no additional argument was made regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Moreover, the record reflects that the allegations made herein concern counsel's failure to contact witnesses who were either known prior to trial such as Mrs. Owens (Ferrell) or other individuals who were easily and readily discernible prior to trial. Jones alleges that witnesses Atwater, Ferrell, Brown, Dixon, et al.,

were either revealed in pretrial discovery or friends of Leo Jones or were readily discoverable by trial counsel. As such, their appearance at this late hour in support of a claim previously raised and adjudicated brings into question the earnestness in which this claim has been raised. In light of the forgoing, it is clear the trial court properly concluded that the claim was procedurally barred and Jones had not overcome said bar.

Relief should be denied as to this claim.

#### ARGUMENT: CLAIM II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PETITIONER'S CLAIM OF "NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE."

Count II of the petition was presented as a claim of "actual innocence, " supported by alleged "newly discovered evidence." Inasmuch as the claim of actual innocence was one which could have been raised in Mr. Jones' first Rule 3.850 petition, by coram nobis, or even by a timely "successive petition" filed prior to January 1, 1987, see Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850, this claim is both procedurally barred and time-barred. See Francis v. State, S461 (Fla.1991); Glock v. State, 537 So.2d 99 16 F.L.W. (Fla.1989); Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla.1989); Harich v. State, 542 So.2d 980 (Fla.1989); Straight v. State, 488 So.2d 530 (Fla.1986); (procedural bar) and Johnson v. State, 536 So.2d 1009 (Fla.1988); Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla.1989) (time bar).

To overcome these procedural bars, Mr. Jones had to allege that his theory of "actual innocence" was supported by "newly discovered evidence" as defined by law.

From the outset, Jones had several problems:

- (1) Much of the evidence Jones was representing as "newly discovered" was portrayed, in Count I, as evidence which existed and was readily discoverable prior to trial.
- In 1986 (at the first Rule 3.850 hearing) Jones' counsel called Paul Marr as a witness. (TR 354 et seq.) testified that he met Schofield at U.C.I. (TR 354) and, as a jailhouse lawyer, spoke with Schofield about his case. (TR 355). Schofield confessed. (TR 356, 358). According to Schofield claimed he shot the officer, returned to rifle to Leo Jones' apartment and then escaped. (TR 359). Schofield also took time to wipe prints off the gun. (TR 360). This testimony, by Marr, in open court, placed the Schofield issue in the public record in 1986. Mr. Link asked for leave to amend his Rule 3.850 petition ore tenus to include an allegation of newly discovered evidence. (TR 368). The request was denied. (TR 368).
- (3) Jones never filed a petition for <u>coram nobis</u> or a pre-January 1, 1987, "successive" Rule 3.850 petition. Jones raised

A recognized remedy as late as 1988, when Jones raised this general issue in federal court. See Darden v. State, 521 So.2d 1103 (Fla.1988)

this issue ("Schofield has been confessing") in 1988 in federal court, but abandoned the issue as noted above.

Unless Mr. Jones can establish that his evidence qualified as "newly discovered evidence" as defined by law, Jones can not overcome the procedural and time bars confronting him.

The term "newly discovered evidence" is a term of art bearing a precise definition. Not all "new" or "recently uncovered" evidence, even if exculpatory, qualifies as "newly discovered evidence."

To qualify, the evidence must pass a three part test; to wit:

- (1) The facts upon which the petition is based must have been unknown to the defendant, his counsel and the court.
- (2) The facts must not have been discoverable by the use of due diligence (by counsel or the defendant).
- (3) The new facts must be of such a vital nature that they would <u>conclusively</u> have prevented the judgment.

See Hallman v. State, 371 So.2d 482 (Fla.1979); Preston v.
State, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla.1988); Darden v. State, 521 So.2d 1103
(Fla.1988).

Hallman, procedurally, addresses this writ of error <u>coram nobis</u> which was presented to an appellate court for "screening" and then referred to a trial court for an appropriate hearing. In <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 1037 (Fla.1989) this court held that <u>coram nobis</u> has been supplanted by direct applications to the trial courts under Rule 3.850.

#### In Preston, supra, at 157, this Court held:

"Thus, the fact that the jury might have reached a different result had it heard the newly discovered evidence does not meet the test for coram nobis. Gilliam v. State, 493 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (third party confession exonerating defendant did not warrant relief); Tafero v. State, 406 So.2d 89 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (third party confession to crime and recantation of testimony by important state witnesses to fourth party insufficient)."

If we analyze Jones' proffered "newly discovered evidence" under this three-part test, we find:

### (a) Were the facts unknown by the Defendant, counsel or the court?

At trial, Jones testified on his own behalf. (R 1215 et Jones said that Glen Schofield was his roommate. Bobby Hammond was an overnight guest. 1215). (R 1216). Schofield allegedly owned the rifles in the apartment. (R 1216). On the night of the murder Schofield went out for the evening. Jones said he and Hammond watched television until (R 1217). Hammond became sleepy. (R 1219). Hammond went to sleep on the couch and Jones went to bed. (R 1219). All doors to the apartment were dead-bolted or slide-latched from the inside. (R 1223-1224). Jones was in bed twenty minutes when the shots were heard. (R 1221). The police arrested Jones a short time later and Jones alleged he was repeatedly beaten. (R 1228 et seq.)

At the first Rule 3.850 proceeding, Paul Marr testified that Schofield had confessed (TR 356-60).

Mr. Jones conceded in his claim of "ineffective assistance of counsel" that Mrs. Owens was listed in pretrial discovery and that other witnesses (Atwater, Dixon, Brown, Gaines, Mrs. Jesse Jones and Arty Hammond) were all readily available, even prior to trial.

Linda Atwater, Jones' "girlfriend" and "alibi," allegedly was with Jones at the time - a fact Jones would obviously have "known" if it was true. Oddly, Jones never mentioned Ms. Atwater at trial or on either Rule 3.850 or federal habeas corpus review.

Jones' mother was certainly known by Mr. Jones.

#### (b) Were the facts discoverable by due diligence?

Count I of this action contended that "new" witnesses Owens (Ferrell), Atwater, Dixon, Brown, Gaines, Hammond and Mrs. Jones were all "readily available," or listed in pretrial discovery. Thus, said Jones, these witnesses were all easily discoverable by due diligence and trial counsel was incompetent for not finding them (just as CCR did after a "superficial investigation"). the November 10, 1991, hearing Mr. Jones did not even attempt to argue ineffective assistance of counsel because, as the state out, the ineffectiveness allegation on its face pointed repudiated any "due diligence" argument. Any reasoned review of Mr. Jones' "evidence" reveals the fact that it was discoverable either before trial, before his last Rule 3.850 petition or before January 1, 1987. see McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. \_\_\_, 113 L.Ed.2d 517 (1991). For example:

(1) Mrs. Owens (nee Ferrell)

This witness was listed in pretrial discovery and thus was available to trial and collateral counsel.

- (2) Linda Atwater Leo Jones' alibi was assuredly available through the exercise of due diligence if she was, in fact, there at all.
- (3) Catherine Dixon A witness previously identified as "readily available" through Schofield's friend (Mrs. Owens).
- (4) Denise Reed Another friend of Mr. Schofield whom CCR discovered in a "superficial investigation" ten years after trial.
- (5) Daniel Cole Denise Reed's boyfriend; discoverable through her.
- (6) Paul Marr Donorena Harris Paul Marr was discovered in 1985 or 86 and even testified in 1986. Ms. Harris is a CCR employee who merely interviewed Mr. Marr. Paul Marr revealed to Jones' investigator that Schofield was puffing, (i.e. a braggart) to inmates at U.C.I. Any reasonable follow-up would have led to cumulative inmate hearsay testimony. (i.e. Pittro, or Prince, or Davis).
- (7) Pittro/Prince Apparently <u>also</u> heard Schofield "puffing" his dangerousness in 1985. Arguably, they or other inmates like them could have been uncovered through Mr. Marr.

#### (c) Would this evidence have "compelled" an acquittal?

Jones has two serious obstacles to overcome in this regard. First, he must overcome the proof of his guilt. Second, he must overcome the inconsistencies between the "new" evidence and the defense as put on at trial, thus showing that the jury would have been so impressed with selected, contradictory, portions of his evidence that it would have had no choice but to acquit.

Obviously, some of this "evidence" did not exist at the time of trial (i.e., the inmate-hearsay reports). This "evidence" will be considered separately.

(a) The New Evidence v. The Facts

There was overwhelming evidence of Jones' guilt.

First and foremost, Jones gave a free and voluntary confession that has withstood state and federal review. The validity of Jones' confession is not at issue.

Second, the confession was corroborated by evidence obtained after a thorough police investigation. In particular, we note:

- (1) Bobby Hammond saw Jones leave the apartment with a rifle, heard shots, saw Jones return. (R 915-920).
- (2) The murder weapon, a 30-30 Marlin lever-action rifle, was found under Jones' bed. (Exhibit 25).
  - (3) The rifle had Jones' fingerprint on it. (R 1028).

In Mr. Jones' appendix 13, at (R 138) of the record, it is reported that Hammonds took and passed a polygraph on this point.

- (4) An insufficient amount of material was obtained to positively identify the source of the bullet that killed Officer Szafranski; but enough of a bullet was found for the expert to eliminate a second 30-30 rifle found near Jones as the murder weapon, but the expert could not eliminate the 30-30 bearing Jones' prints. (R 1049) "Exhibit 25" "could have" fired the shot that killed Officer Szafranski. (R 1049).
- (5) Jones was captured alone, in his bedroom, fully dressed, near the rifle and the rifle had a spent shell inside. (See R 1227).

Taken at face value, Jones' new evidence cannot overcome the evidence, much less "compel" a different verdict, especially since Jones confessed and the state <u>and</u> federal courts have upheld the validity of that confession. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 570 (Fla.1983); <u>Jones v. Dugger</u>, 928 F.2d 1020 (11th Cir.1991).

Second, even given the version of events reported by Jones at trial, the affidavits would not compel a different verdict.

- (1) Ms. Atwater, Jones' "alibi," was never mentioned by Jones at trial nor was she listed as a potential witness in any prior federal or state collateral proceeding.
- (2) Patricia Owens did not witness anything. Glen Schofield merely refused to confess to her. (App 1).

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